
 
Town of Swanzey Planning Board  Draft Minutes 
October 24, 2013 
Page 1 of 7 
 

 

 
 

Town of Swanzey, New Hampshire 
Swanzey Planning Board 

Meeting Minutes – October 24, 2013 
 

Note:  Draft Minutes are subject to review, correction and approval by the Board. Review and approval of Minutes 
generally takes place at the next regularly scheduled meeting of the Board. 

 

The regular meeting of the Swanzey Planning Board was called to order at 6:00 p.m. by Chair Glenn 
Page.  Members present:  Scott Self, June Fuerderer, Joe Smith, Gus Lerandeau Alternate Don Skiba, 
Alternate Jane Johnson, and Selectmen’s Representative Ken Colby. The roll call and agenda for the 
meeting was read by Chair Page and Johnson was seated for Goller. 
 

Absent:  Jeff Goller 
 
Others Present:  Town Planner Sara Carbonneau, Town Counsel Gary Kinyon, Attorney Silas Little, 
Matthew Rajaniemi, Bill Hutwelker, Representatives for Zaremba Program Development LLC Matt Casey, 
Jeff Merritt, and Heather Monticup, Fire Chief Norm Skantze, Police Chief Tom DeAngelis, and Public 
Works Director Lee Dunham, and various residents of the public.  
 
Minutes:  Minutes from October 10, 2013 were reviewed. Motion was made by Fuerderer to accept the 
minutes. The motion was seconded by Self.  All were in favor except Lerandeau who abstained.  Motion 
passed.  
 
Regional Impact: Board members considered whether any items on the agenda could be construed as 
having the potential for regional impact. Motion made by Fuerderer that no items on the agenda could 
be reasonably construed as having the potential for regional impact. Second by Smith, no further 
discussion, and all were in favor of the motion. Motion passed. 
 
Ken Colby informed the attendees of Sara Carbonneau’s new title: Director of Planning and Community 
Development. 
 
A.  PUBLIC HEARINGS 
1. Multi-Tenant Application –  
Matthew Rajaniemi wishes to use a portion of the premises situated at 765 West Swanzey Road for a 
restaurant.  The property is shown at Tax Map 72, Lot 98-1 situated in the Business District.  The 
property is owned by Gomarlo's, Inc.  Public Hearing opened at 6:07 p.m. 
 
Mr. Rajaiemi stood and spoke to the Board saying he is a new operator in an existing restaurant.  
Nothing changes other than the sign and the manager.  Page referred to the sign application.  The signs 
are both existing signs and they are only changing the wording on the sign.  There was a question by 
Carbonneau regarding hours of operation.  Rajaiemi said he wished to amend hours of operation such 



 
Town of Swanzey Planning Board  Draft Minutes 
October 24, 2013 
Page 2 of 7 
 

that closing will be to 9:00 p.m. instead of 2:00 p.m. as currently on the application. Opening hour of 
6:00 a.m. would remain the same.  Public Hearing closed at 6:09 p.m. 
 

Motion by Lerandeau to approve the use of a portion of the premises situated at 765 West 
Swanzey Road, Tax Map 72, Lot 98-1, by Matthew Rajaiemi for a restaurant with hours amended 
to opening at 6:00 a.m. and closing at 9:00 p.m. and use of two existing signs with new wording. 
The motion was seconded by Colby, all were in favor. Motion passed.  

 
2.  New Tenant Application – 
 Draeger Safety Diagnostics, Inc. wishes to use the premises situated at 80 Old Homestead Highway for 
an ignition interlock installation and service business.  The property is shown at Tax Map 18, Lot 213 
situated in the Business District.  The property is owned by GB Investment Holdings, Inc. Public Hearing 
opened at 6:10 p.m. 
 
Bill Hutwelker spoke to the Board representing GB Investment Holdings, Inc.  He provided materials to 
the Board for review.  Chair Page asked for abutters, and there were none in the room.  Hutwelker 
referred to the last page of the documentation where he pointed to the logo that will be used.  He said 
the business will utilize the existing sign and will need to return to the Board for the sign approval. He 
explained that ignition interlock technology is a type of breathalyzer installed in vehicles which prevents 
operation of a vehicle when intoxicated. Public Hearing closed at 6:12 p.m. 
 

Motion by Lerandeau to approve the use of the premise situated at 80 Old Homestead Highway 
for an ignition interlock installation and service business on property shown at Tax Map 18, Lot 
213 situated in the Business District and owned by GB Investment Holdings, Inc.  The motion 
was seconded by Smith. Page asked for further discussion: Johnson asked about parking, 
Hutwelker responded that there are nine parking spaces on the site but there will be one 
employee and perhaps one car being serviced and one car waiting to be serviced at any one 
time. He said it is unlikely that all nine spaces would be used at any given time. All were in favor. 
Motion passed.   
 

Chair Page called a short recess at 6: 15 p.m. in order for the Planning Board to conference with Town 
Counsel Kinyon.  At that time the Board moved to another room at Town Hall with Counsel Kinyon and 
Director of Planning and Community Development Carbonneau. The Recording Secretary did not attend 
the session. The Board ended the recess and returned to the Public Hearing at 6:36 p.m. 
 
3.  Site Plan Review –  
Zaremba Program Development, LLC (Zaremba) wishes to construct a 9,100 square foot building to be 
used for retail sales.  The property is situated off W. Swanzey Rd. & Cobble Hill Rd. and shown as 
proposed Lot 51-2 on Tax Map 72, situated in the Business District.  The property is owned by Stephen 
and Joan Pappas. Public Hearing opened at 6:37 p.m. 
 
Zaremba was represented by Attorney Silas Little, Matt Casey, Engineer Jeff Merritt, and Consultant 
Heather Monticup. Casey began his overview of the project by noting that the New Hampshire 
Department of Transportation (NH DOT) has granted permits for the project. He said the project was 
reviewed by NH DOT Bureau of Traffic and two separate private traffic consultants.  As of April 2013, the 



 
Town of Swanzey Planning Board  Draft Minutes 
October 24, 2013 
Page 3 of 7 
 

permits have been renewed. Casey then noted that Zaremba has secured West Swanzey Water 
Company (WS Water Company) water supply, and confirmed sanitary sewer plans.  Gas will be propane. 
Storm water system handled on project itself. Outside improvements in the plan include sidewalks at 
Cobble Hill and removal of some trees to open up line of sight.  Cross access easement has been agreed 
to between Zaremba and Mr. Pappas. 
 
Chair Page noted that in 2012 the WS Water Company had not been able to provide fire protection 
service. He asked Casey why the WS Water Company changed its mind. The response was that there was 
a meeting with the WS Water Company and engineers to discuss the need and after that meeting the 
WS Water Company agreed to provide water for fire suppression.   
 
Page called on Fire Chief Skantze to ask him if he was satisfied with the level of water for fire 
suppression that would be available in the plan.  Chief Skantze said the plan includes a sprinkler system 
which allows for a reduction in the number of gallons required for fire suppression.   
 
Self asked about restriping the roads and grading on the corner of Cobble Hill Road. Casey said the plan 
is to grade on Pappas property and Merritt pointed to landscaping on the corner.  They would take 
down the shrubs and cut down the nob to improve sight lines.  They also agreed to take down some 
large trees on the opposite corner near property owned by Faulkner. They have no plans for road 
grading on Cobble Hill Road.  Lerandeau asked about Cobble Hill Road being raised.  Little said that the 
State of NH controls the grading of the road.  Merritt said that it didn’t make sense to raise the road. 
Instead the plan calls for dropping down the abutting land to improve the lines of sight. 
 
Public Works Direction Lee Dunham spoke about his concern with the entrance itself.  Casey responded 
that NH DOT permit is for curb cuts and the driveway is placed where the NH DOT wanted it placed.   
 
Smith said he would like to hear from the WS Water Company as to why they can now provide water 
when they couldn’t do so before.  Smith noted that the water easement brings water into the back of 
the building. Merritt responded that the concern of the WS Water Company was shutoff capability. They 
did not want to need to close valves on private property. Merritt pointed to the plan showing parallel 
water lines, one for fire suppression and one for domestic supply, with the cutoff valves at the street 
instead of at the building.  Merritt went on to say that Bruce W. Lewis, P.E. from Lewis Engineering PLLC 
is the consultant that the WS Water Company used.  Skiba asked what the major item was that changed 
their minds.  Casey said that it was open dialogue talking to engineering experts.  Skiba asked about 
metrics involved. Casey responded that the WS Water Company was satisfied as to its capacity to 
provide service once it had its own consultant (Mr. Lewis) to confirm assessment of the system.  
 
Mike Gomarlo said the developer is providing the owner of the WS Water Company with funds to fix the 
pump house.  He also said the owner indicated to him that the WS Water Company could not fight a 
lawsuit.  Merritt said they did a flow test at the hydrant.  Merritt reported that Lewis said some 
additional work could be done to the system to make it more reliable. Casey said that a contribution by 
developer was offered to the owner.  And offsite improvements are offered as well.   
 
Smith said he wanted to know what is different in the system that now makes it acceptable. Casey asked 
if the WS Water Company is comfortable with that and the Fire chief is comfortable with it, what more 



 
Town of Swanzey Planning Board  Draft Minutes 
October 24, 2013 
Page 4 of 7 
 

do you (the Planning Board) need?  Little said there was a dialogue with the WS Water Company in April 
2013 and the measurements they had obtained seemed to meet the needs of fire protection.  Little said 
they were unable to have a conversation with the WS Water Company earlier in the process (in 2012).  
 
Self asked about the water – Merritt said the water comes up South Winchester Street with shutoffs at 
the street.   Merritt reviewed the location of the sewers in the area.  Self asked the Fire Chief if he 
reviewed the plans and asked Skantze about another hydrant in the area. Skantze said he reviewed the 
plan and approved it with conditions in June 2012.  Fire flow required is 2,000 gallons per minute.  
However, the presence of sprinklers reduces the volume requirement. He said he has not reviewed the 
sprinkler plans.  He also said the Flow Test in July 2012 determined there was enough flow for sprinklers.  
The fire flow requirement is less with sprinklers. Skantze also said he would like to see a hydrant.  There 
is limited storage of water in the current system.  But he did note that the best option is the sprinkler 
system.   
 
Ralph Randall rose to speak, introduced himself, and said he resides on South Winchester Street near to 
the proposed development.  Randall asked about the sewer discharge rate and the response from 
Merritt was 300 gallons per day.  Randall noted that the sewer is going to be right in front of his 
property. Merritt said there should be no flow into his house.  Randall asked about water runoff from 
the parking lot – Merritt said the runoff isn’t tied to the municipal sewer, and they deal with it on the 
site. Storm water is handled in two different areas.  Merritt said the site has good soils, they are sandy.    
He explained how the roof water off the building will go into an infiltration basin, which also captures 
storm water from the parking lot. He noted that the New Hampshire Department of Environmental 
Services (NH DES) has regulations about infiltration basins. The basin must be constructed such that it is 
three feet above the seasonal high water table. Merritt talked about a bio-retention basin being able to 
double as landscaping.  Merritt said that they have an extensive plan for landscaping.  Fuerderer asked 
about maintenance of the landscaping. Merritt replied that Dollar General will be maintaining the 
landscaping.   
 
Randall asked about the retention areas and the aquifer in the area and whether the runoff will impact 
the quality of the water into the aquifer.  He noted that salt is used in the parking lots during the winter 
months and asked about salt leaching into the aquifer.  Merritt said the industry standard is to have a 
certain depth to take up the water, and measured to the seasonal high water table, bottom of 
infiltration basin is above that measurement.  Randall asked if Merritt will guarantee there will be no 
problems.  Merritt said he can guarantee that his designs are up to industry standards but cannot 
guarantee there will be no future problems.  Randall said he is concerned about the compaction of soils 
having an impact on the aquifer.  Merritt said pressure doesn’t apply to depths.  Merritt repeated that 
his plan is for a site built to current industry standards.  Merritt said he had never seen problems with 
water affecting the aquifer when built to industry standards. 
 
Laszlo Kovacs who resides on Winchester Street spoke about concerns with water accumulating on his 
property. Skiba asked about using a bio-retention basin for both water retention areas and whether it 
might ease the minds of neighbors concerned about water.  Little said the original storm water study 
showed that post development flows over a ten year storm cycle would be the same.  The development 
won’t increase the water flow offsite. Self noted the Town’s ordinance says the water flow can’t 
increase.  



 
Town of Swanzey Planning Board  Draft Minutes 
October 24, 2013 
Page 5 of 7 
 

 
Johnson suggested asking the Swanzey Conservation Commission to review the project.  Page noted 
there is no wetland on the site. Johnson responded that there is wetland at the Winchester Street end 
of the property.   
 
Attorney Kinyon rose and asked if Zaremba had a water permit to allow hook up. Casey said the water 
company would have an engineer present when they are ready to hook up.  Casey said that Dollar 
General is willing to give them a contribution toward the WS Water Company infrastructure.  Kinyon 
asked about the contribution. Little asked why the question is important.  Kinyon said that the previous 
denial was based on the inability of the WS Water Company to provide water.  Now the company says it 
can.  Kinyon said it is fair to ask for details about what has changed.  He asked why should there be 
secrecy.  Little said that they complained to the Public Utilities Commission (PUC) about the water 
company and that complaint got the owners of the WS Water Company talking to representatives of 
Zaremba.  Little went on to say that the WS Water Company had not given a reason for why they 
couldn’t provide the service in 2012.  Little said that Mr. Lewis principally deals with water companies 
and is respected.  Mr. Lewis was engaged after the complaint was filed.   
 
Kinyon said that what is enlightening to him, that as a result of the discussion, the WS Water Company 
agreed that they have capacity, or have capacity with funds to help with their operation.  Kinyon then 
asked directly, “Is it a condition (for the ability to supply water to the development) that you (Zaremba) 
contribute and have you already done so?”  Casey said that they have agreed.  Kinyon went on to say 
that this Board needs to know if there is a condition.  Casey said that the WS Water Company will get a 
donation for offsite improvements.  At the time of building permit, prior to construction, the payment 
will be made.  To confirm his understanding, Kinyon said if the payment is not made, then you wouldn’t 
be allowed to hook up.  At this point, Little said that Zaremba cannot obtain a Certificate of Occupancy 
(CO) unless there is fire protection.  Dollar General won’t close on the property without permits.  Kinyon 
said that there is a distinction between ability to supply domestic water and ability to supply fire 
suppression.  Kinyon said he doesn’t want the Planning Board to be placed in the middle of that fight, if 
the water company decided only to provide domestic water.  Merritt said the requirements are right on 
the plan.  If it isn’t built that way, then Dollar General is in violation. Kinyon pointed out that just 
because the WS Water Company letter has been provided to the Board, that doesn’t end the obligation 
of Dollar General to follow through.   
 
Little said he has a signed agreement with WS Water Company.  It is private matter between the WS 
Water Company and Dollar General.  Little said he would show it to Kinyon as a confidential matter.  
Kinyon said he didn’t understand the need for secrecy.  Self said he would like to see the agreement 
between Dollar General and the WS Water Company.  Casey asked why the Board wanted to see it.  
Casey said that he would have to pass it by the WS Water Company to see if they would agree to let the 
Board see the letter.  Self said that the money could be used to upgrade the water infrastructure.    
 
Casey asked if this is the only outstanding issue before the Board. Self said he would like to hear from 
WS Water Company engineer himself. Little said this issue was not within the Board’s purview in the 
past.  Self pointed out that the present letter contradicts the first letter.    
 



 
Town of Swanzey Planning Board  Draft Minutes 
October 24, 2013 
Page 6 of 7 
 

Mike Gomarlo noted that there are problems with the system that we don’t know about but he has 
learned after speaking to the owners. One well was drawing oil and was shut down.  If no pressure on 
the well, then pollution is not drawn into the well.  300-400 people are now getting drinking water from 
the system.  MTBE pollution is a concern.  Page said that third party testimony isn’t acceptable.   
 
Little pointed out that WS Water Company water is tested regularly and to his knowledge has met all 
requirements for clean water.  Little noted that the development is working off an existing line in a 
public street. Smith said that the water tariff documentation says that it should be a water extension 
and he would like clarification on that issue. Merritt said that it wasn’t necessary to consider a water 
extension since the frontage of the property has water and sewer available.  Page said he wanted to 
temporarily speak for the Sewer Commission on which he serves.  He said the last manhole on the water 
system on Route 10 is where it is because they ran out of grade. End of the gravity system is right there. 
 
Casey asked about other concerns than water.   Lena Whipple asked about a sidewalk along route 10. 
Little said a discussion could occur about a contribution toward sidewalks.  Johnson talked about the 
danger of crossing Route 10.  Ralph Randall spoke to the fact that children walk along the road from 
Cobble Hill to South Winchester Street and safety is a concern.  Casey said that improvements (like 
sidewalks) are usually done by municipalities.  Dunham spoke about the sidewalk that is already in the 
area.  He noted there are 90 apartment units within walking distance of the proposed Dollar General 
building, concluding that residents will use sidewalks to get to the retail building. Dunham also raised 
the problem of the skewed intersection.  Dunham said it is a tough intersection from a safety 
perspective because of the amount of traffic on Route 10.  According to Casey and Little the plan for the 
sidewalk is to go across the entire frontage of the subdivided lot and along Cobble Hill Road.  Casey said 
that the applicant would be most happy to make a contribution toward more sidewalks. 
 
The Board agreed that they needed more information and would continue the review of the application 
in order to consider the following: 

 Direct testimony from WS Water Company engineering consultant(s) 

 Copy of the agreement between WS Water Company and Dollar General/Zaremba 

 Contribution by Dollar General/Zaremba toward extending sidewalk to Haley Heights on West 
Swanzey Road 

 Clarity from Attorney Kinyon on water tariff question regarding line extension/frontage 
requirement 

 
Motion by Lerandeau to continue the Public Hearing Site Plan Review for construction of a 9,100 
square foot building to be used for retail sales on property is situated off W. Swanzey Rd. & Cobble 
Hill Rd. and shown as proposed Lot 51-2 on Tax Map 72, to next meeting scheduled for November 
14, 2013 at 6:00 p.m. at Swanzey Town Hall. The motion was seconded by Fuerderer. There was no 
further discussion, and all were in favor except Johnson who abstained. Motion passed.  

 
Zaremba/Dollar General representatives left at 8:04 p.m. 
 
 
B.  DISCUSSIONS/OTHER BUSINESS – 
 



 
Town of Swanzey Planning Board  Draft Minutes 
October 24, 2013 
Page 7 of 7 
 

1. Attached Sign –  
Monadnock Regional High School wishes to install a 40 square foot attached digital sign which 
was reviewed by the Board. Carbonneau provided information regarding the LED sign being 
requested.   

 
Motion was made by Self to inform Monadnock Regional High School that they do not 
need a Public Hearing on its request for installation of a sign based on RSA 674:54. The 
motion was second by Colby and all were in favor. Motion passed. 

 
2. Nissan of Keene 2,000 gallon gasoline tank 

Carbonneau informed the Board that Nissan of Keene has an application to the State of New 
Hampshire for an above ground gasoline tank.  She said they have approvals for expansion of 
the site with an 18 x 39 foot pad which will hold both a propane 1000 gallon tank and the 
gasoline tank.  Carbonneau asked the Board if the applicant needs to go to public hearing or just 
an amendment to the existing plan without a public hearing since they are already going 
through the State of New Hampshire for their permits.  
 
Johnson asked whether the abutter is aware of the changes and Carbonneau said probably not 
since the applicant is going through the State.  Carbonneau went on to say there will be an 
enclosure so people cannot steal gasoline.  Chair Page asked Fire Chief Skantze for his input and 
Skantze said that he has not received anything yet from NH DES who is looking at the application 
from an environmental perspective.  He went on to say the Fire Department would be 
concerned about containment and spillage.  He is waiting for information from their engineers 
regarding the action plan. Once he has the documentation, he will be able to comment. 
 
Discussion continued about the number of questions that were unanswered such that the Board 
decided that it would be best to conduct a public hearing. Chair Page said the hearing should not 
occur until Chief Skantze has the information he needs for review.  Page also said the applicant 
should provide a revised site plan for a new location of the dumpster.  Carbonneau mentioned 
that there might be lighting changes as well that would need to be documented and the building 
addition is not going to be the same as the initial site plan that was approved. Carbonneau asked 
the Board if the application could be reviewed in one session and the Board agreed. 

 
Motion to adjourn by Lerandeau, seconded by Smith, with all in favor.  Motion passed.  
Adjournment at 8:15 p.m. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 

 
Beverly Bernard, Recording Secretary 
 
 
 


